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To my beloved mum, Liz, who, in her own words, ‘was a rugby fan before she became a mother’. Without your love, support and guidance, there would be no story to tell. This is for you, Mum.









PROLOGUE


There it was. Hanging on its peg. On the one hand, a lifeless piece of cloth; on the other, a magical garment, capable of imbuing its wearer with superhuman powers. The red jersey of Wales, with the number ‘10’ emblazoned across the back. It wasn’t made from the heavy-duty cotton of yesteryear, but there were myths and legends woven into those fibres. As much as it was a piece of cloth, it was also a repository of dreams.


Red. The colour of the Welsh dragon, of blood and danger too. I’d bled into that shirt; I’d broken bones wearing it. I’d clutched its badge with pride and ripped it off in despair. In its own way, it contained a roadmap of my journey to this point. The joy, the graft, the despair, and everything in between. One hundred and eleven times I’d pulled that jersey on. This, potentially, could be the last.


Fly half, outside half, stand-off, first five-eighth, pivot. Call it what you want. In Wales, it’s the jersey that matters most. Rugby is a team game, but as a 10 you’re a solo artist; the frontman, whether you like it or not. No shirt suffers the cold, harsh light of scrutiny more, and when you wear it, you’re standing on the shoulders of giants.


Barry John. The King, they called him. Ghosting and gliding past defenders like they weren’t there. Phil Bennett. Benny, the hot stepper. Jinking and weaving, making time stand still. Jonathan Davies – Jiffy. The impish genius, turning on the after-burners, leaving scorch marks in his wake.


Wales has always been a land of poets and dreamers, and so many of my predecessors hypnotized the masses with their mesmerizing artistry.


Me? I’d never fit the mould.


Throughout my career, I’d constantly had to confront the critics, to silence the cynics. I was too slow. I stood too deep. I was petulant, aggressive and one-dimensional. I kicked too much and ran too little. I was, in short, not your typical Welsh fly half. Where Barry would paint you a picture, I’d draw you a diagram. Pragmatism over romanticism, that was me.


For many years I’d thought that I’d never emerge from the long shadows cast by Barry, Benny and Jiffy. Yet here I was, holding this jersey for the 112th time, more than any other number 10 in Welsh history.


I looked it over, rubbing its shiny surface between thumb and forefinger. This one had all the usual signifiers: the three feathers, with my cap number ‘1063’ beneath them. The Rugby World Cup logo and ‘France 2023’ on the opposite breast. On the left sleeve, ‘Cymru v Ariannin, 14eg Hydref 2023’. Wales v Argentina, 14 October 2023. And in the bottom left-hand corner, embroidered above the embossed words of the Welsh National Anthem, just to confirm this hadn’t all been a dream: ‘Dan Biggar, 112th cap’.


As I gripped it in my hand, I reflected on the spiritual regard in which it’s held, on the jumble of contradictions it represents. As a young man, all I had was the hunger to wear it, blissfully unaware of the baggage that came with it. How it can simultaneously feel like a suit of armour and a straitjacket. How it can imbue you with Herculean strength or weigh you down with crippling anxiety. But any misery I’d endured had been outweighed by the joy it had brought. And here I was, back on the grandest stage of all – the Rugby World Cup – with one last shot at glory. A quarter-final against Argentina, and beyond that . . . two more games?


Tugging that iconic red jersey over my head, I knew it was nearly time to hand it over to the next generation. But I had a job to do first. I turned towards the tunnel knowing that, whatever happened today, I’d do what I’d always done. I would head out there and do everything in my power to help Wales win.
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‘IF THAT BOY DOESN’T PLAY FOR WALES, THERE’S SOMETHING WRONG’


Saturday 14 October 1989


My father, John, is tucking into a curry and a pint the Welsh way – arf ’n’ arf. Half chips, half rice. His feet are up, and he’s watching the live action from the Arms Park. Cardiff are taking on the mighty All Blacks and are ahead courtesy of a Mark Edwards try. It’s a cracking game and an upset is on the cards, so Dad is a little peeved when a nurse appears in the doorway.


‘Excuse me, Mr Biggar, your wife is going into labour.’


Downing what remains of his pint, Dad races down the corridor to the maternity ward of Morriston Hospital to witness my arrival in the world. It turned out to be a false alarm, and I didn’t actually make an appearance until the early hours of Monday morning. Cardiff ended up losing, so at least Dad didn’t miss a famous victory.


A little over a year earlier, the weak flame of Welsh rugby had flickered briefly back to life when Wales won the Triple Crown. The revival was to prove a final gulp for air before the game was drowned by the onrushing tsunami of professionalism. Given how much blame is laid at the feet of Welsh fly halves, I’m sure there are those who consider it my fault.


Dan Biggar? Born in 1989? That’s about the time it all went pear-shaped, isn’t it?


That’s an exaggeration, of course, but I have certainly had to develop a rhino skin being a fly half in Wales; tough enough to repel the relentless slings and arrows of a passionate, opinionated rugby public. It hasn’t always been easy.


I’m known for my fiery personality and refusal to take a backwards step and, while there’s an element of caricature to the way I’ve been portrayed, there’s no doubt there’s an anger in me. Not born of tragedy or a dark past; it’s just that I have a fierce competitive streak that’s run through me since the day I was born.


As a little kid, I was loud, brash and demanding. During one Sunday lunch, when I was strapped into a high chair, exercising my lungs to their limit, Dad calmly stood, carted me and my chair to the far end of our big back garden, and left me there to holler into the ether while the rest of the family enjoyed their meal in peace.


On another occasion, when I was four, Dad got tickets to the panto in Swansea. He seemed unusually keen and had reserved front-row seats. I was overwhelmed by the noise and bright lights and immediately began wailing in protest. Knowing there was no chance of calming me down, Dad gathered our things and trudged reluctantly out of the theatre. I later discovered his enthusiasm for the event was solely down to the fact that the glamour model, Linda Lusardi, had a starring role. Little wonder he looked so despondent as we traipsed out a mere five minutes after the show had started.


As for Mum, she rarely completed a food shop without me kicking off, often having to abandon a half-filled trolley to bundle her wild, raging baby into the car. I was a nightmare, always needing to be held.


My maternal grandparents refused to look after me because I was so difficult to control. Only Dad’s parents were ever willing to step in, so I’d end up spending loads of my weekends with them while my older sister, Rachel, hung out with Mum’s parents, Betty and Fred. They’d always hand a smiling Rachel back, having had a lovely time, whereas a frazzled Mamo and Dado virtually hurled me back into my parents’ car, desperate to restore the peace I’d so utterly destroyed.


Childhood was a pretty idyllic experience, though. I grew up in the tiny village of Llangennith, on the western end of the Gower peninsula; the first place in the UK to be designated an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.


The family home was a sprawling labyrinthine place, set in its own grounds, with a steep rolling lawn affording magnificent views out to sea. From the front garden, sand dunes spilled away towards the ocean, dotted year-round with surfers braving the famous Atlantic swells.


From my bedroom, I’d gaze through the salt-encrusted windows to the distant form of Worm’s Head; the mile-long headland once referred to by Dylan Thomas as the ‘very promontory of depression.’ That might have been because he once got trapped there overnight when the tide rushed in. For me, though, it will always symbolize home.


The only artificial sound you’d hear in Llangennith would be the revving of an engine or the tinkling tune from an ice-cream van, if they could be bothered to come that far down. To this day the phone signal is dodgy, and the broadband connection patchy at best. It essentially consisted of a surf shop, a pub, a church, a scattering of houses, and some winding country lanes where sheep assumed right of way over cars. They’d stare you down disdainfully if you dared to beep the horn on the way out.


Llangennith was contradictory: dark, bleak, and lonely in winter; sun-drenched and dreamy during the summer, when hundreds of kids would flock to the pristine beaches and camp under the stars. The tranquillity of the village would be shattered as legions of raucous teenagers stumbled back to Hill End campsite, drunk on cheap cider from the King’s Head pub.


I spent my early childhood summers running myself ragged until the sun went down. I was obsessed with sport. We had football goals in the garden, and I’d play full ninety-minute games, assuming the roles of both teams as well as being referee and commentator. Our neighbours would have to endure these endless, epic battles being played out and narrated by an over-enthusiastic child with energy to burn. Years later, the same neighbours confessed to my mother that they’d nearly gone insane at the repeated, monotonous thwack of my ball against the dividing wall. It wasn’t until later that the football goals turned into rugby posts, and I started kicking the ball over them rather into them.


In spring and summer, we’d head for the beach after school to surf, grill sausages, and watch the sun set behind Worm’s Head, casting its fiery crimson glow over our little corner of paradise.


I wasn’t your stereotyped long-haired, bleached-blond surfer – Llangennith didn’t see enough sunshine for me to develop a year-round tan – but I was dedicated enough. We had one of the best surf beaches in Britain within walking distance, and some of the best surfboards money could buy in PJ’s surf shop. So although you couldn’t buy a pint of milk in Llangennith, you could buy a top-of-the-range Al Merrick Dumpster Diver. The obsessive drive I’d later develop about rugby was in early evidence here, as I’d meticulously wax my board for hours on end before plunging into the foaming breakers.


We’d camp among the dunes on the weekends, where the unpredictable weather would occasionally catch us out. On one memorable occasion a biblical downpour turned an idyllic night under the stars into a nightmare of sopping wet sleeping bags and flooded tents. An SOS call to our parents ended with them getting their cars stuck in the sludge that had formed amid the flash floods, and we wound up traipsing home through the sticky swamp with all our gear balanced on our heads.


The waves were bigger and gnarlier in winter, and we’d often be thrashing around until after dark, as the chill began to penetrate our wetsuits. One particularly parky January evening, I virtually froze to death on my walk home. It was about a mile back to the house from our favourite surfing spot, and the temperature had plummeted significantly. I was shivering uncontrollably as I picked my way through the dunes, and my teeth were chattering like a cartoon character’s. By the time I crunched up the driveway to the warm sanctuary of our house, I had icicles on my eyelids.


Winter nights indoors were golden; we’d light the fire in the hearth, cwtch up on the sofa, and watch A Question of Sport. Before the days of streaming or catch-up TV, that was the one show I never missed. If you’d told me then, as a scruffy kid living at the arse-end of nowhere, that I’d be an invited guest on it one day, I’d have considered you insane. I might have shown an aptitude for sport at a young age, but the idea of being good enough – and well-known enough – to graduate to the glamorous world of television was inconceivable. My appearance on the programme in 2015 evoked so many golden memories of those dreamy Friday nights in front of the fire out west.


The Gower is a peninsula, but it feels like an island. Growing up on that thin finger of land jutting into the ocean, you felt physically and emotionally separate from the mainland. We were coastal dwellers living on the margins. Later, when I played for Gorseinon Under-14s, the journey there would feel like passing through a portal into a busier, more frantic world. There was a real sense of sanctuary in our little corner of Wales, tucked away at the north-westerly tip of the Gower.


Most Welsh rugby players have a militant national identity; a sense of being Welsh to the core. Without sounding indifferent, I simply didn’t have that growing up. While my extended family is all Welsh, I never felt any patriotic stirrings as a child. It’s probably because I grew up where I did. Because of its otherness, and sense of isolation, the Gower has an identity all of its own.


Envisaging the Mumbles with its boutique shops and cafés, or the brightly painted beach huts of Langland, some people assume the whole of the Gower is some sort of posh enclave. It’s not though. North Gower is wilder, more chiselled, and less manicured. It doesn’t have shiny resort towns like the southern side, and it’s definitely not posh. But neither is it particularly ‘Welsh’. Little, if any, Welsh was spoken. My childhood was shaped by the waves and the dunes, by the rocks and ridges of Cefn Bryn, rather than the Welshness of the soil. Yes, I wanted to play for Wales, but it was a distant, abstract dream. The weight of history didn’t press on my shoulders like it did in some families, and the folklore of Welsh rugby didn’t permeate our village like it did in other parts of the country.


There was also the reality that kids tend to be drawn to winning teams and throughout the nineties, the Welsh rugby team was not performing well. When the game turned professional in 1995, we were left scrabbling in the dust as the likes of England and France strode purposefully towards the sunlit uplands. Watching the Six Nations – where we were routinely pumped by our bitterest rivals – was a depressing experience. Instead, my head was turned by the Manchester United side of that era, which was dominating British football. It was the round ball that first captured my heart. Rugby would have to wait a while.


In as much as there is a single Biggar place of origin, it’s Onllwyn in the Dulais Valley. Coal-mining country. It’s only around forty miles east of Llangennith, but it feels like a different world. There, on Wembley Avenue, three generations of my family grew up in the same house. My great-grandparents, my grandparents and my father and Auntie Julie. My grandparents, Albert and Gwyneth (Mamo and Dado to me) live there to this day, on the main road running through the village. Dad’s grandfather, Rees Mitchell, bought the house when it was built in 1926, resettling from his hometown of Merthyr Tydfil to work underground. It’s a poky, semi-detached ‘Coal Board’ house, directly opposite the old mine; it used to be permanently shrouded in smoke as the valley reverberated to the clanging of machinery.


The entire male community worked in the mine, and the colliery used to dominate the landscape; now, where the gaping hole used to be, there sits a broad thicket of trees, and beyond that the majestic peaks of the Brecon Beacons. Nature is doing its best to reclaim the land torn apart by industry.


Albert and Gwyneth met in Porthcawl, the glamorous seaside resort that drew amorous teenagers to its ballroom dances. Albert – a Manchester native and Army officer – was stationed at the Seabank Hotel, a distinctive whitewashed building that still dominates the coast road today. At a sprightly ninety-six years of age, Gwyneth still jokes that Albert once promised her a retirement bungalow in Porthcawl, to which he always responds with a chuckle, ‘I haven’t won the pools yet, love.’ Gwyneth and a friend were wandering along the seafront in the summer of 1943 when Albert spotted them, surmising that Gwyneth – on account of her sartorial splendour – ‘looked a bit wealthy’, and summoned the courage to ask her on a date. Albert repeatedly trod on Gwyneth’s toes during their foray on the dance floor, but he had an alluring mop of wavy hair and an exotic-sounding accent that marked him out as different. After seventy-five years of marriage, he’s lost every last strand of that voluminous bouffant, but she’s never stopped loving him.


During the Second World War, Albert served in Italy and Austria, keeping in touch with Gwyneth by letter. They married in 1948, when Albert persuaded Gwyneth to move to Manchester, but it wasn’t the homecoming he’d hoped for. The street that had held so many fond childhood memories now looked unrecognizable, with many buildings – including his beloved chip shop – bombed out. The Nazis had apparently been aiming for Salford Docks, but had ended up levelling an entire community. It was a city ravaged by war and plunged into recession.


They tried to build a life amid the wreckage, but Gwyneth longed for the clean Welsh air. They’d experienced the tragedy of a stillbirth, and had been told they wouldn’t be able to have another child, so when she did become pregnant again – with my father – they didn’t want to take any chances. The doctor pretty much prescribed a return to Wales and Albert didn’t take much persuading. They packed their bags and returned to the relatively clean air of the Dulais Valley. Albert was a Welshman now. They moved into the family home on Wembley Avenue, where Dad was born shortly afterwards.


My great-grandfather Rees Mitchell was a handy boxer in his day, and his cousin, Eddie Thomas, might well have been a world champion. Eddie was a fiery welterweight who won the British, European and ‘Empire’ titles and, in 1949, was the number one contender to fight Sugar Ray Robinson for the world title. It never came to pass, but he was considered a huge talent with a lightning-fast left jab that he later passed on to his protégés, Howard Winstone and Ken Buchanan, whom he coached to world titles. Like most of my male forebears, he was a miner, who continued to dig for coal even when his professional career got under way.


Eddie was deified by the people of Merthyr, not just for his boxing prowess, but for his humanitarian efforts during one of the darkest episodes in Welsh history. On that grim morning in Aberfan in 1966 when a slag heap collapsed and engulfed the local primary school, he was among the rescuers, risking his own life to recover several of the bodies from the wreckage. He was given the freedom of Merthyr in 1992, and elected mayor two years later. Perhaps unsurprisingly, given his Welsh choral background, he became known as ‘The Singing Boxer’, and his party piece was to belt out a passionate rendition of ‘Bless This House’ after every fight. I’ve definitely inherited a bit of his fighting spirit and am one of the few boys in the Welsh squad able to hold a tune, so perhaps I have Eddie to thank for that as well.


Dad’s father Albert was a football boy, growing up less than ten minutes from Maine Road, and he remains a Man City supporter to this day – a source of tension when I developed my affection for Man United. But when I switched my focus to rugby, Albert became one of my most vocal supporters, and his passion for the oval ball began to outweigh his love for the round one.


Mamo and Dado are still in that Wembley Avenue house, and I see them as often as I can. Gwyneth – at ninety-six – remains sharp as a tack. She’s incredibly house-proud and wouldn’t want to live anywhere else on earth. She dismisses my childhood home in Llangennith as ‘showy’, and will always prefer the down-home earthiness of Wembley Avenue, staring out on that same mountain she used to watch her father climb as a young girl.


My affection for them runs deep because they helped raise me from a young age. Mum would drop me off at their place on a Sunday evening and pick me up on Friday, and that pretty much continued until I went to school at the age of five. If there had been room for me at the village school (and Albert did ask), I might not ever have gone home!


As I got older, I would spend hours up on Onllwyn’s Recreation Ground, and the rugby pitch in Banwen. Dado would wedge a fruit can in the ground for a kicking tee, and I’d spend hours knocking balls over the posts – in all weathers – while he and Mamo dutifully ran back and forth to collect them. The shadows would be lengthening over the mountains, and they’d be panting and wheezing with the effort, but I was never ready to go home. Those clutch kicks I’d later land, under the most intense pressure in some of the world’s grandest stadiums, were all indebted in some way to the hours of relentless practice on that small, unremarkable patch of grass in the Dulais Valley. Their neighbours – Meurig and Wyndham – would see me practising, and tell my grandparents, ‘If that boy doesn’t play for Wales, there’s something wrong.’


I loved those weekends at my grandparents’ house. Their life had slowed to a gentle pace, and I found it a real sanctuary there. Whenever I think of that place – so much smaller and more cramped than the family home – I think of the warmth and love to be found within, of steaming mugs of tea, and buttery Welsh cakes, and of piping hot roast dinners eaten in front of the telly.


I didn’t have as close a relationship with my maternal grandparents. Mum’s mum, Betty, who was originally from Merthyr, died when I was nine, and Grandad passed away in 2016. Betty had been engaged to another man and broke it off to marry Fred, which caused a bit of a stir in the socially conservative South Wales valleys. But they were happily married for fifty-one years, so it was clearly the right decision.


Fred was from Coelbren, just outside the southern boundary of the Brecon Beacons National Park, and a mere mile from Onllwyn, so both sets of grandparents could be found in the same little corner of Wales. Fred began his career as a miner too, but soon swapped the shafts for the skies when he joined the Royal Air Force. With the outbreak of war, he was sent to the front line and, like Mamo and Dado, he and Betty kept in touch by letter for much of their early courtship.


As a teenager, Dad was already dreaming of a future that involved escaping what he considered the claustrophobic confines of the Dulais Valley, with the inevitable move down the mines at the age of fifteen. He was always attracted to money because, in his words, he’d never had any. While convalescing from an aggressive bout of flu at the age of thirteen, he developed an interest in stocks and shares, and mentioned it to one of his teachers, who had helped him set up a ‘bank’ of his own. His cousin was the bank manager, and they made their own cheque books, persuading all the kids in their class to deposit half a crown a week.


Somewhere in the BBC’s dusty archives, there’ll be footage of my teenage Dad being interviewed about it on the Welsh evening news. It sparked an interest in him which in some ways has shaped the way he’s lived his life. He’s always had an active interest in the stock market, and has done pretty well out of it generally.


My sporting genes came from both sides of the family. Mum, a Seven Sisters girl, met Dad at Neath Grammar School when they were seventeen, and they studied together at Treforest Polytechnic where there was a strong sporting pedigree. Mum played hockey, tennis and squash, and Dad played rugby.


Football had been a dirty word at Neath Grammar, where rugby ruled the roost. The kids weren’t even allowed to take a football in to play at lunchtime. Albert would take Dad to the Gnoll stadium as a young boy to watch the Neath of Brian Thomas and Morlais Williams – hard men from farming stock who never took a backwards step.


Dad moved out of the family home in Onllwyn aged eighteen, first heading to Beddau, north-west of Cardiff, and then to Cardiff itself, where he and Mum lived on Cathedral Road, the wide, tree-lined boulevard that leads directly into the city and to Cardiff Arms Park. Mum’s parents didn’t approve of them living together out of wedlock, so they married young, when they were both twenty-one. Mum used to joke that they’d threatened to cut her out of the will if she continued to ‘live in sin’, but as an only child I don’t think she had anything to worry about.


Mum was funny, kind and outspoken. She always told you what she thought – sometimes to an annoying degree – and was never afraid of an argument. She certainly wasn’t the type to sit quietly in the corner of a room; she was feisty, fiery, and never tried to hide her emotions. If you asked her for an opinion, you got one, unvarnished and to the point. On the flipside, if you got a compliment from Mum, you knew it was genuine.


It was around the time they were living in the capital that Dad renounced his Neath loyalties and started following Cardiff. He’d been an abrasive flanker in the Welsh Schools Under-19 squad before university, but Mamo and Dado had tried to get him to prioritize his education after he failed his eleven-plus and A-levels, so his rugby became more of a social pursuit. Unlike me, he was a forward, and tells me I haven’t taken after him because I ‘can’t handle the hard stuff’. Though he does like to take credit for my place-kicking prowess, claiming he used to regularly ‘knock them over from the touchline’ for Old Tauntonians in Cardiff. Unfortunately, or perhaps fortunately for him, he’d hung up his boots by the time I was able to go and watch, so I’ll have to take his word for that.


Dad showed a zeal for engineering at university, where he gained a degree in quantity surveying, which eventually led him into the oil industry, specializing in the financial and legal side of building pipelines. It opened up a world of opportunity, and by the age of twenty-six he’d moved to Abu Dhabi. Rachel and I had arrived by then, and they didn’t want to move us all to the Middle East, so the decision was made for Dad to head out on his own.


I didn’t know it then, but having an absent father was the shape of things to come; by the time I’d turned five, my parents had decided to split up permanently. Dad’s work took him to some far-flung places, and he became something of an itinerant father, moving every few years to new postings in Dubai, Korea, Indonesia and France. The further he travelled, the further his presence receded from our lives. In those early days, when we’d see one another, he’d appear initially as a stranger, but it wouldn’t take long for the awkwardness to melt away.


Naturally, we missed having Dad around, but because I was so young when it happened, it didn’t seem a huge wrench. Three times a week, we’d get up early before school to call him, but for the most part it felt like the three of us – Mum, Rachel and me – against the world, protecting each other in that big old house.


It’s only through the passing of time that I’ve come to realize what an absolute legend Mum was. She deserves a gold medal for raising us both, and I’ll be forever grateful for the time she spent indulging my love of sport. Taxiing, ferrying, and waiting for hours on the touchline during the winter gloom is hard enough when you live in an accessible place, but when you’re stuck on the western edge of a remote peninsula, it’s a genuine ordeal. Every journey was undertaken on winding country lanes, often in the dark and in less than clement weather. Mum was saintlike in her commitment, and I didn’t express anywhere near enough gratitude at the time. She’s no longer with us, and I only hope she understood how much of my success was because of her.


We didn’t have loads of money. Our grand-looking property in Llangennith belied a ramshackle interior that we couldn’t afford to fix up. One day the clanking old immersion heater in the loft blew up, and the bathroom ceiling collapsed. From that point onwards, whenever you had a bath, you’d be staring up through a gaping hole in the ceiling at exposed beams and torn strips of insulation foam.


That summed it up really; a sort of worn-in luxury. It was a handsome old home in a beautiful spot, but behind the façade it was creaking and dilapidated. Things regularly broke, malfunctioned or simply stopped working, and were rarely ever fixed, which occasionally drove Mum to the point of distraction.


One afternoon, Rachel and I got off the school bus to see a gleaming ‘For Sale’ sign on the driveway. Mum, without telling us – or Dad, presumably – had put the house on the market. She’d had enough and wanted to move to Penclawdd, still on the Gower but closer to Swansea and civilization.


Rachel was dead against it and did her utmost to sabotage the move. She’d hover behind the estate agent like a malevolent shadow, quietly pointing out everything that was wrong with the place to prospective buyers: the damp spots, the leaking pipes, the cracked plaster and the creaking floorboards. Eventually the message got through to Mum. We were more attached to the place than she’d realized.


A move to Penclawdd would have suited me, actually, as I’d joined their Under-10s football team as a striker, where my goal-hanging instincts saw me become top scorer in my first season. I loved football, far more so than rugby at that age. Unlike so many of my contemporaries, Welsh rugby culture wasn’t ingrained in me. Going to see Wales play at the Millennium Stadium wasn’t an annual pilgrimage as it was for so many of my friends. I never even got taken to watch Neath play, even though Mum and Dad both grew up as staunch fans.


Mum was far more into rugby than me. She’d always be up at the crack of dawn, and on weekends she’d be ensconced in front of the TV by 6 a.m., fresh coffee steaming in her mug while she watched the early Super Rugby game from New Zealand. By the time I’d wander bleary-eyed into the lounge with a bowl of cereal, she’d be getting into the game from Australia, which would normally kick off around 10 a.m. our time. I was far more inclined to watch Premier League football later in the day, often while wearing my full Man United kit. Ryan Giggs was a high-profile Welshman, which helped tilt my loyalties towards United, and it was good call as that side swept all before them for most of my childhood.


Ultimately, I had a really happy upbringing. My parents remained on civil terms and Dad would always keep in touch by phone, often having to negotiate inconvenient time zones and crackly phone connections. And, if there was an upside to Dad working overseas, it was that we were able to take exotic holidays to places like Dubai. Every Easter and summer, Rachel and I would board the plane as ‘unaccompanied minors’ and jet off to see Dad. Looking back, those trips were formative experiences, giving me a glimpse of the big wide world beyond the Gower, and allowing us to spend some quality time with Dad.
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AN UNLIKELY HERO


It’s October 2003, and I’m standing in the lobby of an opulent Brisbane Hotel; a nervous thirteen-year-old clutching an autograph book. The Rugby World Cup is in full swing and I’m with Mum, who’s fulfilling a lifelong dream of travelling to the other side of the world to follow her beloved Wales. But I’m not here in search of Welsh players. This is the England team hotel, and I want to meet their golden boy, Jonny Wilkinson. England may be Wales’s bitterest rivals, but I’m not bothered by such parochial concerns. Jonny is my hero, the blond-haired maestro whose artful, dead-eyed goal-kicking has elevated England to top of the world rankings.


I see a little of myself in him.


He’s not the most naturally gifted of players. He’s definitely not a swashbuckling, swivel-hipped magician like Barry John or Jonathan Davies. More a skilful technician with a razor-sharp rugby brain and a willingness to put his body on the line. I don’t care what badge he wears on his chest; I want to meet him and see if a little of his magic rubs off.


It’s not to be. His near-monastic existence means he’s nowhere to be seen. Some of his teammates wander through the lobby in their branded stash, looking like they mean business. Their captain, Martin Johnson – he of the permanently furrowed brow – relaxes slightly in my presence, putting me in a headlock when he hears my accent. Matt Dawson puts his arm around me and poses for a photo. But it’s Jonny I wanted. Maybe next time.


I hadn’t been overly excited about the trip. Unlike most Welsh fans travelling with the usual mix of blind faith and optimism, I couldn’t ignore the facts. Under Steve Hansen we’d lost ten games in a row, and had sunk into a trough. While England fans were talking confidently about winning the thing, I thought we’d be fortunate to reach the knockout stages. But our match against New Zealand became a definitive turning point in Welsh rugby history; an utterly breathless eighty minutes of captivating, harum-scarum rugby. It might have ended in glorious defeat, but not before the All Blacks had been given an almighty scare.


Mum and I were at the Suncorp Stadium a week later when Wales almost pulled off the shock of the tournament. 10–3 up and cruising against England, it took a single moment of magic from Jason Robinson to change the course of history. England scraped through and went on to win the World Cup. I was at the final too, watching from the stands as Jonny Wilkinson calmly nailed the drop goal that sent the crowd into raptures. It was a seminal moment for England – obviously – but also for me. If rugby had been a passing interest until then, that was the moment my ambition crystallized. That is what I wanted to do. I wanted to be the guy in the middle, directing the traffic amid the chaos. I wanted to kick the winning drop goal in the World Cup final.


Unlike Mum, I hadn’t viewed the trip as some significant pilgrimage. Until then, rugby, to be blunt, had been an incidental part of my life. But being immersed among the supporters and witnessing such drama up close opened my eyes to what rugby might offer me. I started to notice that my friends who played rugby seemed to be enjoying a better social life. There was a deeper sense of camaraderie, and more of a brotherhood than in football. You’d wash away the mud stains in the communal shower and troop into the clubhouse with your hair freshly gelled where there’d be a steaming cauldron of curry to greet you. That was where bonds were forged and memories made. It’s the bit about rugby I love the most, and that has continued throughout my professional career; I still love going for coffees with the boys and hanging out in the team room talking shit. To this day, I’m one of the last to leave, preferring the buzz of conversation to the solitude of a hotel room. It’s ultimately what I got into the game for, and it all stems from those early days when rugby began to overtake football in my affections.


Jonny just sealed the deal.


I went to secondary school at Gowerton Comprehensive, in the middle of a council estate about six miles west of Swansea. After my cosseted upbringing, it felt like a splash of cold water to the face. The noise, the clamour, and the sheer size of everything was disorienting, and I was shocked to witness my first playground fight. One day a friend smuggled in a bottle of Bailey’s and a few of us went behind the bike sheds to share it around. The headteacher caught us in the act and ordered us to his office. The rest of the boys seemed quite blasé about it, but as a wide-eyed country boy, I convinced myself I was going to be expelled at the age of eleven. That’s about as rebellious as I got during my secondary school years, though. I largely remained on the right side of the authorities.


Most people can trace their passion for sport back to an inspirational teacher and I’m no exception. Mr Mason couldn’t have been further removed from the stereotype of a Welsh PE teacher: he was short, bald, and not particularly athletic, but he had genuine ability to enthuse his pupils. Schools would often employ ex-players to run their rugby teams; military types who’d bark orders, drive standards, and more than likely hurl themselves into rucks and mauls. Mr Mason was more the gentle, encouraging type; a softly spoken fellow who valued relationships over the more technical side of coaching. He organized annual trips for the rugby, hockey and netball teams to far-flung places like Australia, South Africa and New Zealand. Without his enthusiasm and fund-raising efforts, they’d never have progressed beyond a conversation in the staff room.


Gowerton Comp had a big emphasis on sport, but it wasn’t steeped in rugby like Ysgol Glantaf in Cardiff or Brynteg in Bridgend. If you were serious about rugby, you needed to find a club. So that’s how I had found myself up at the Welfare Ground in Gorseinon on a blustery Tuesday night at the age of thirteen.


A short, stocky ginger fellow by the name of Rob Steele was our coach at Gorseinon. He was a builder by trade and, unlike Mr Mason, he had an abrasive no-nonsense attitude. He had a short fuse and could be terrifying when he lost his rag. Gorseinon was a fairly unfashionable club at the time, and there’d been stories doing the rounds that other promising youngsters like Ashley Beck and Kristian Phillips were being lured to rival club Tonmawr with the promise of free PlayStations and Xboxes. There were no such luxuries on offer at Gorseinon.


On that first day, there were a lot of brutish-looking boys warming up, shouting at each other in their coarse city accents, and I felt young and puny in their presence. I swear some of them already had stubble. Some of these raw-boned teenagers looked downright intimidating, and I was determined not to come across as some soft lad from the Gower. Gorseinon was hardly the Bronx, but it had an urban grittiness and an underlying sense of menace that made me uncomfortable. I wandered towards a more introspective-looking kid who looked similarly out of place. He was smaller than me, painfully shy, and struggled to maintain eye contact, even while introducing himself. His name was Leigh Halfpenny. In a few short years, the club pavilion would be renamed in his honour, and he’d have carved out a reputation as one of the world’s best full backs.


Back then he was just a local boy from Penyrheol Comprehensive, a mile down the road. He was nearly a year older than me but didn’t look it. The two of us would have to prove ourselves, and quickly. That first Tuesday night was a real eye-opener. Whatever tackling I’d done at school had amounted to little more than jersey pulling. Some of these Gorseinon boys had a nasty edge, and would clatter into contact with their knees pumping like they really wanted to hurt you. I emerged from that first session with a bruised ego to go with my two bruised shoulders.


Playing with and against boys a year older proved a valuable education. My tackle technique improved overnight, and I toughened up pretty quickly.


Leigh and I certainly weren’t among the star players, but we did become first-team regulars. We weren’t carving up the way future internationals often do. We were more workmanlike figures, chugging away in the engine room. It was our attitude that stood out and we went on a decent run as a team, piecing together a string of notable victories. By the time we played Brynaman away, we felt invincible.


It’s only about twenty miles as the crow flies, but the top of the Swansea Valley can feel like a different world, and there was an unsettling vibe from the moment we arrived. The clubhouse looked derelict and abandoned, the pitch was boggy and lumpy, and the corner flags were whipping violently in the wind. The local park overlooked the ground, and gangs of kids on BMXs stared slack-jawed at us as we trooped onto the pitch. The ref was one of their players’ dads, and within a few minutes we’d ‘conceded’ a litany of penalties. Their game plan revolved around giving the ball to their enormous blind-side flanker and encouraging him to bulldoze his way through our defence. The whiff of violence grew stronger by the minute, and it didn’t take long for things to boil over. A brawl erupted, punches were thrown, kicks were rained down on prone bodies and ugly threats were issued from spittle-flecked lips. I remember glancing at the sidelines in a mute appeal for the grown-ups to restore some order, only to see them going at it too. My mum briefly abandoned her pacifist principles and unleashed a barrage of verbal abuse at her nearest neighbour. She might have had a middle-class veneer, but there was always a Neath girl bubbling beneath the surface.


The bad vibes continued after the final whistle had blown on our first defeat of the season, and the parents ushered us directly to the cars. We’d gone there with a bit of swagger, eager to play some rugby, but those valley boys clearly wanted to take the ‘city slickers’ down a peg or two. It was the first time I’d experienced that kind of ugly tribalism.


Later, at an early Sevens tournament down in Felinfoel, where a young Phil Bennett had first tried out that mesmeric sidestep of his, we’d coasted into the final but found ourselves a couple of tries adrift at half-time. I was furious at how lackadaisical the boys had been and lost my temper, bellowing at my teammates that I hadn’t come down here to pick up a loser’s medal. It wasn’t the most eloquent call to arms, but it did enough to shake us out of our torpor and we recovered to win the tournament.


Once rugby had taken its grip, my perfectionist streak kicked in too. I wanted to be the best. You’ll have heard about disgusting rugby initiations involving booze, urine and vomit that I’ll refrain from going into on the grounds of taste and decency. That wasn’t me. I went in the opposite direction, spending my teenage years as a paragon of health and clean-living. The idea of undoing all the hard training by drinking a skinful of cheap lager every weekend seemed moronic. I became obsessed.


I looked unnaturally bulky during my teenage years, not because I’d pumped up my physique with a rigorous weights regime, but because I took to wearing a weighted vest. The idea was that if you got used to wearing it, you’d feel sharper and more agile when you removed it to play. I wore it everywhere – to the cinema, at school, in the house, and when I was out for food with the boys. It was on from the minute I stepped out of the shower until the minute I went to bed. Like Jonny Wilkinson, I developed an obsessive, single-minded approach. It was all or nothing. It might have been heavy, sweaty and uncomfortable, but if it made me even 1 per cent better, it was worth it.


So were the early alarm calls. Waking in the inky-dark of a Gower winter morning to the shrill blast of a 5.30 alarm, piling into the car with a half-munched piece of toast in my hand, and trundling through the lanes where the badgers and hedgehogs still roamed. Mum behind the wheel, stopping to pick up Leigh Halfpenny, who’d be standing silhouetted in the gloom at the side of the road. She’d drop us at Swansea College where the gym opened at 6 a.m. and we’d train furiously for an hour. With my limbs tingling from a heavy session, I’d don my cumbersome vest, ignoring the quizzical sideways glances from the early morning swimmers. I carried a 2-litre bottle of water everywhere too, because we’d been lectured on the importance of staying hydrated. I refused to drink tap water on the grounds it contained excess oestrogen and pollutants. I wanted to do whatever it took to become a professional rugby player.


The highlight of our year was the annual Gorseinon RFC trip to Kiln Park in Tenby. As with all rugby tours, it was an opportunity to spend more time with the boys and in coach Rob O’Kelly’s case, an opportunity to let his hair down in a different postcode. Every year, for reasons unknown, he’d end up stripping naked and running through the caravan park, much to the bemusement of the holidaymakers enjoying a sundowner on their terraces. Those trips were like a cross between Twin Town and The Inbetweeners, with just as many laughs, high jinks and mishaps.


We’d amuse ourselves in the evenings by sneaking around the site, unplugging people’s electrics and cackling in the bushes as caravans were plunged into darkness. Watching enraged campers plodding out in their string vests and pyjamas was the height of hilarity to a bunch of hyperactive teenage boys.


I managed to swerve the indignity of a teenage initiation. The gulping-down of urine or lager through the arse crack of a teammate were things I’d heard about but thankfully never witnessed.


A few of my mates played for Penclawdd, where some of the rituals were a little less revolting; new recruits were ejected from the team bus at the CKs supermarket and forced to run the last 500 yards back to the clubhouse. Not the worst punishment imaginable, you might think, until I reveal they had to do it stark bollock naked.


On arrival, their ‘reward’ was a tray with half pints of lager, cider, bitter, Guinness and a bottle of WKD, which they had to see off before they were allowed to change out of their birthday suit.


By this point, I’d committed to my Jonny Wilkinson-inspired regimen, and managed to steer well clear of such shenanigans.


The longer I played for Gorseinon, the more confident I became, and every so often I’d experience a quantum leap forwards.


One freezing cold night, when our fingers were blue, the ground was rock solid, and we were desperate to escape to the hot showers, I experienced my first rugby epiphany. We’d been experimenting with block play runners, a simple enough concept which is now commonplace, but to us youngsters back then it felt like we’d tapped into some Harry-Potter-level sorcery.


To the uninitiated, it’s a backs move that sees one player run a dummy line in front of the ball, while another goes ‘out the back’. The idea being that the dummy runner dupes the defence into thinking he’s about to receive the ball, giving the actual receiver extra time and space to make a break. We worked on it until we’d nailed the timing, before unleashing it on the non-playing XV. As planned, their eyes were drawn by the dummy runner, and we went out the back and scored a great try in the corner. In that moment it felt like we’d jumped up a level.


The rudiments of the game were locked into our muscle memory, and now we could add layers of sophistication, like a chess player calculating the outcome several moves in advance, or a musician who has endlessly practised chords and scales to the point where they can suddenly improvise, create. This realization – that we could use sleight of hand and trickery to evade the flailing arms of defenders – was enormously satisfying. Rugby is increasingly referred to as a collision sport, but for me it remains a game of manipulation and evasion.


That night, in the bone-numbing cold, I was consumed by a warm feeling. We were playing Under-14s rugby, but it felt like we’d stepped through a portal into a more advanced world.


Because I was comfortable playing alongside older boys for Gorseinon, Mr Mason put me forward for Swansea schoolboys a year early. He recognized that everyone progresses at a different pace and has different levels of ambition, and understood that my future lay at this level. I’m not sure how many teachers would have advocated for that.


Thanks to his guidance, and my apprenticeship at Gorseinon, I was being talked about as a potential pick for Wales Under-16s and, despite being a year young, I knew I was in with a chance. The team was being announced on email and I remember sitting hunched over our home computer with its dodgy dial-up connection, silently praying I’d get the call. The email eventually appeared and there was my name in bold, next to the number 10. I felt a surge of national pride. This was the first time I really felt Welsh. I came out trying to suppress a smile and told Mum to go and have a look. She shrieked with pride, hugged me tight and ran downstairs to call Leigh’s mum, Estelle, who was also celebrating her son’s call-up. There were a few other names you might recognize too: Rhys Webb was at scrum half, Ryan Bevington was the captain, and some fellow called Sam Warburton was in the second row.


Ultimately, my first match in the red jersey of Wales ended in disappointment. We lost 23–6 against a strong England side, packed with meaty forwards, but I wasn’t too downhearted. I’d got to pull on the red shirt and it felt good. Mum and Dad had both been on the sidelines to cheer me on.


It was a relief to see Dad for the first time after his terrifying brush with death. We’d heard about it first in a phone call to Mamo from Auntie Julie, on an otherwise unremarkable Thursday morning in September 2004, in which she claimed she’d just seen Dad on TV, standing amid the rubble of a bombed-out building. There had been a deadly car bomb attack on the Australian embassy in Jakarta, which was next door to Dad’s office. Dad’s building had borne the brunt of the explosion, which had sent him flying through the air before he’d landed in a crumpled heap by the filing cabinet. Once the building had been evacuated, the grim reality was laid bare, with scenes of utter carnage greeting him and his colleagues at street level. An estimated eleven people lost their lives in the attack and more than 150 were injured.


Dad and his colleagues fled to the hotel where he and his wife Angie were staying, and proceeded to calm their nerves with a few stiff drinks. Suitably oiled, Dad made a round of phone calls, to let family and friends know what had happened. He opted to tell Mamo a white lie, explaining that any bomb she might have heard about had exploded ‘on the other side of the city’. Little did he know that the images of him standing amid the rubble had already been beamed across the world and onto Mamo’s old cathode-ray TV screen in Onllwyn. Once she’d established he was OK, she laid into him with the full force of a mother’s fury, telling him to ‘never lie to your mother again!’ And so, his traumatic day was rounded off with a proper ear-bashing from our powerful matriarch.


Some things never change.
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A KING’S RANSOM


My hand is trembling as I knock on the door. It’s Sunday afternoon in Swansea, and the Ospreys are preparing to face Leinster in their brand-new home, the Liberty Stadium. Kick-off is two hours away. I’m nearly sixteen years old and have just been offered a development contract with the Ospreys Academy. Suffused with confidence and no little swagger, I’ve decided to introduce myself to the senior coaches, and the club’s money man, Mike Cuddy, to try to wangle a better deal. But now I’m on the threshold of their office, I suddenly feel like the callow teenager I am. I knock with as much confidence as I can muster and am summoned in. There behind the desk are the three unsmiling figures of Mike Cuddy, the head coach Lyn Jones, and the assistant coach, Sean Holley. Unsure whether to sit or stand, I hover uncomfortably before Mike raises an eyebrow and barks, ‘How much is this going to cost me then?’


A week earlier, the news had come through from the Ospreys. Five youngsters including Leigh and me had been offered development deals which would see us train with the academy at the club’s Llandarcy HQ. It was essentially a season-long audition to see if we had what it took to step up to professional rugby. It came with an annual salary of £2,000, which might have seemed like a fortune to a teenager living at home but, given the commitment we’d be making, and the amount I’d spend on petrol getting to and from training, I could conceivably be losing money by accepting it. The other boys – Leigh, Kristian Phillips, Ashley Beck, and Tom Williams – had signed up without a moment’s hesitation, but I was a little more sceptical.


A few weeks earlier, Mum had received a phone call from someone purporting to be an agent. She’d hung up after the initial ‘Am I speaking with Mrs Biggar?’, assuming he was a double-glazing salesman. But this Tim Lopez fellow, as he introduced himself, was persistent, calling straight back and insisting, ‘It’s about your son.’ I have no idea how I’d appeared on their radar, but he was claiming that Northampton’s academy was interested in me and were willing to pay £30,000. A wind-up, surely? Thirty grand was a king’s ransom. The call was a massive ego boost, and the start of a relationship that endures to this day, as the man on the end of the line soon became my agent.


But the confidence that counter-offer had given me evaporated when I was in front of Mike Cuddy, a burly, no-nonsense businessman of some renown. Sean has since worked this into an amusing after-dinner anecdote in which he describes me striding up to the desk and saying ‘Hi, I’m Dan Biggar and I’m going to be the next Ospreys fly half.’ It didn’t quite happen that way. Instead, I laughed nervously when Mike asked how much it was going to cost and shuffled obediently into the chair he was gesturing towards. I explained that I’d had a lucrative offer from an English club, but that I wanted to play for the Ospreys. I might have said I thought I was good enough to eventually be their first-choice 10, but I certainly wasn’t as brash as Sean has since made me out to be.


I was wittering on, trying to work out how best to ask for more money, when Mike cut across me, snapping, ‘How much do you think you’re worth then?’ My face flushed with embarrassment as he slid a piece of blank paper across the desk. ‘Write it down if you don’t want to say it out loud, and I’ll do the same.’


This was excruciating.


My mind was racing. Write too much and they’ll think you’re insufferably arrogant, too little and you don’t have the courage of your convictions.


With a trembling hand, I scribbled down £10,000 on the piece of paper, folded it over and slid it back across. To go from £2k to £10k felt ballsy. Mike unfolded it, raised an eyebrow and gestured for me to open his. He’d written £12,500. The charade was over, and I flashed a smile. ‘Happy with that?’ he asked. I nodded enthusiastically.


He waved my piece of paper in front of me.


‘Sure you don’t want this?’


‘No thank you, Mr Cuddy. This one’s just fine.’


As the door swung behind me, I let out an enormous sigh of relief. Mum was in reception and gave me a massive hug when I told her what had happened. I’d have a grand landing in my account every month. As a teenager with no outgoings apart from surf wax, CDs and PlayStation games, that made me rich.


The two of us went up to the stand and watched the Ospreys beat Leinster with a last-minute penalty from Matthew Jones. In a few years, I thought, that could be me; running things from 10 on that pristine surface, winning games with dramatic late kicks. It felt like the first day of the rest of my life.


Before their move to the Liberty, a 20,000-seater football stadium, the Ospreys had played their home games at St Helen’s, the iconic old ground looking out over Swansea Bay. It had become a little rough around the edges but had history seeping from every pore. It was the venue for Wales’s first ever rugby international in 1882, and also where Garfield Sobers famously hit six sixes in a single over, playing for Nottinghamshire against Glamorgan in August 1968. As I’ve mentioned, I wasn’t a diehard rugby fan growing up, but if I was to be found on the terraces anywhere, it was at St Helen’s watching the Whites. I’d watch the fly halves, studying their form and technique, and remember being particularly impressed by Diego Dominguez when he was in the visiting Stade Français team. He was the Italian international who famously kicked thirty points in a Heineken Cup final and ended up on the losing side. I also watched Neil Jenkins in zen mode drowning out a chorus of boos to knock over kicks from every corner of the ground. And the hometown hero was Arwel Thomas, the impish, diminutive pivot who’ll always be remembered for punching Philippe Carbonneau in the 1997 Five Nations. It was the Llanelli games I remember most vividly; those combustible West Wales derbies that almost always spilled over into violence.


So when I was selected for Swansea Schoolboys and we started training on that same hallowed turf, it awakened the fan within. To change in those dressing rooms and jog onto that pitch was magical. I’d never owned a Swansea replica shirt – indeed I used to train there in the Crusaders ones my Mum had bought me – but training on that bowling-green surface gave me an appreciation for the club and its history that I hadn’t had before.


It was through our Swansea Schoolboys connection that we picked up our development deals, and we were immediately given a rigorous schedule which, looking back, was pretty full-on for a bunch of fifteen-year-olds. There’d be weights sessions before we headed off to school, and training with the Ospreys Under-16s straight after. On Wednesdays we’d have dedicated skills sessions, where one of the coaches would put us through our paces during our lunch break. There was an early morning session on Thursdays in addition to the evening session. Then, in the summer holidays, when our school friends were gearing up for six weeks of uninterrupted leisure time, we’d have something scheduled every day.


Normally, you’d associate the beach with sunbathing and relaxation, but the beach-based sessions were the worst. We’d head for Aberavon at 8 a.m. on a Saturday, where we were forced to run three lengths of the beach through claggy wet sand as the Port Talbot steelworks pumped sulphurous fumes into the air down the coast. Our fitness coach, Keith Hollifield, would be cycling on the promenade, weaving around pedestrians and bellowing at us to go faster. Worse still were the notorious sand dunes of Merthyr Mawr. They’re the stuff of legend in Welsh rugby, and one of its most brutal testing grounds. Many a Welsh international has been emasculated by those unforgiving dunes, reduced to a vomiting, blubbering mess after being forced to scale them repeatedly until their legs turn to jelly. The mere mention of that hellish place is enough for the bile to rise at the back of my throat.


When my first Ospreys pay cheque came through, I felt like a millionaire. As my sister Rachel slaved away at her holiday job, washing dishes for the minimum wage at the Hill End camp site café, she envied me being paid what seemed like eye-watering sums to essentially kick a ball around.


My first car was my biggest investment. It was a fairly uncool-looking Seat Leon, but given the clapped-out bangers my mates were driving, I considered it a Rolls-Royce. The biggest indicator of my new-found wealth was my ability to fill up the tank, a luxury which cost a colossal £35. Gone were the days of dribbling in five pounds’ worth of petrol and hoping it would be enough to get you home.


It was during this period that the Welsh national side finally awoke from its long slumber. As a child of the nineties, I was seriously beginning to doubt whether I’d ever witness a Welsh Grand Slam. The chasm that had opened up between England, France and the rest seemed too wide to breach, and we’d become used to ritual thrashings at the hands of the old enemy. Then, seemingly out of nowhere, 2005 happened: a first Six Nations Grand Slam in twenty-seven years, and – in Gavin Henson – a poster boy to rival Jonny Wilkinson. His nerveless fifty-metre kick to sink England was the catalyst for an unlikely clean sweep. Overnight, rugby started to dominate the national conversation again, tapping into the zeitgeist. This generation of players, elevated by the casual insouciance of Gavin Henson and the impish genius of winger Shane Williams, were rock stars. Forget Cool Cymru and the new wave of Welsh bands like the Manics and the Phonics; the rugby guys were now at the vanguard of popular culture. The game against France in Paris – where Wales performed a Lazarus-like recovery in the second half to win 24–18 – was one for the ages. Martyn Williams, who is now Wales’s team manager, still goes on about it to this day. His two tries had sparked the unlikeliest of comebacks, but it was Stephen Jones who had impressed me most. His calm authority and ability to manage the game taught me a valuable lesson about fly half play at the highest level. I watched the final game against Ireland at home with Mum and, needless to say, when Tom Shanklin passed to Kevin ‘The Rat’ Morgan for the clinching try, we were out of our seats and jumping for joy.


To those unacquainted with the Welsh rugby pyramid, each of the four Welsh professional regions has several ‘feeder clubs’, which play in the semi-professional Welsh Premiership. It’s difficult for people of a certain generation to accept that famous old clubs like Swansea, Llanelli, Cardiff and Newport have been supplanted by the ‘plastic’ regions and their supposedly inauthentic franchises. I could write an entire book about the labyrinthine politics of Welsh rugby; suffice to say, while I was part of the Ospreys Academy, I was effectively loaned out to Swansea to accelerate my development.


It was another collision of worlds as us callow, inexperienced teenagers were thrown into an environment dominated by grizzled, no-nonsense hard nuts who were quite happy to teach a precocious kid a lesson or two about ‘real’ rugby. They thought we couldn’t properly graduate until we’d experienced the frost-laden pitches of Ebbw Vale or the raucous crowds at Pontypridd on a wintry Wednesday, where the ground feels like solid concrete and the tiles are blowing off the clubhouse roof.


We came from different universes – I’d arrive at training from school, whereas most of them were reporting for duty after a hard day’s work on the building site or the factory floor. One was a toilet paper salesman who’d always turn up with reams of the stuff to flog at discounted rates. I’m not sure how legitimate a sideline it was, but it opened my eyes to another world I’d not been privy to as a cosseted schoolboy groomed in the academy.


Signing a contract with the Ospreys might have helped me up a couple of rungs on the ladder, but it was no guarantee of success. I only played for Swansea for eight months, but it was a vital stepping stone. The former Llanelli full back, Ian Jones, was my backs coach, and he gave me a valuable piece of advice. He told me I only had one chance of being a professional rugby player. ‘You can always go back to do a course to be a leccy or a plumber,’ he said, ‘but being a pro rugby player is a one-shot game. Miss, and you’re out of the running.’


The head coach was the former Wales and Lions flanker, Richard Webster, a proper old-school, teak-tough bloke, with just the right amount of swivel-eyed madness. We trained twice a week, on Tuesdays and Thursdays. The Tuesday sessions were on a school field in Cockett, and Webby introduced a rule whereby if you dropped the ball, under any circumstances, you had to hit the deck and let the forwards run over you like a horde of marauding buffalo. You can just imagine these thirty-year-old forwards with their big studs, pummelling my soft flesh and relishing every moment. Nothing sharpened your senses more than the prospect of a punishment like that. Swansea were a slick ball-handling team, capable of scoring tries, but had often been accused of having a soft underbelly. Being an abrasive, uncompromising player himself, Webby took those kinds of slights personally and vowed to instil a steelier edge.


Though it sounds cruel, there was a good deal of affection between me and the older guys. Any mockery was friendly rather than mean; the equivalent of sending an apprentice out to buy a glass hammer or a tin of tartan paint. They could see that I wasn’t flash or arrogant and had a strong work ethic. As a teenager with school and academy commitments to juggle, I could have been given a bit of leeway, but I made sure I never missed a session. Other academy boys would miss a Tuesday or Thursday, especially those with Webby’s famous contact drills, but I knew that was a sure way to lose respect from the senior players, as was not turning up to team socials. Even though I wasn’t a drinker, I’d always make sure I popped along to show my face. Prima donnas don’t survive long in those environments.


My Swansea debut was twenty minutes off the bench up in Bedwas, a traditional working-class mining town in the Gwent valley. Everything about it was hostile. The pitch was boggy, and the grass long enough for rabbits to roam undetected. The stand – with its peeling paint and broken seats – had seen better days, and the changing rooms were – to put it diplomatically – spartan. On the pitch I felt comfortable in terms of the pace and skill level, but physically it was a real baptism of fire. I was a boy who’d barely started shaving, going up against hard men, all of whom were graduates in the dark arts. Things weren’t as dirty as they’d been in the amateur era, but no forward worth his salt could resist a dig in the ribs to a prone teenager lying out of sight of the ref. And you wouldn’t get any sympathy from the ultra-partisan home fans who considered anyone from Swansea to be a soft city slicker.


The Premiership back then was a decent testing ground for youngsters like me, and it saddens me to see how much standards have declined. In my sole season for Swansea, it was full of promising players who wanted to play rugby, as opposed to just scrap and fight. A lot of talented academy players fed into those teams, and above them you had strong regional sides, stacked with senior pros and quality overseas signings. Several of the so-called golden generation who played under Warren Gatland cut their teeth in that league: Jonathan Davies at Llanelli, Leigh ‘Pence’ Halfpenny at Cardiff, and Ashley Beck at Aberavon, as well as people like Kristian Phillips at Neath. Yes, it helped you toughen up and build courage, but it also enabled you to sharpen your skills and hone your game management. Combine that with the well-financed regions who could afford to sign foreign stars like Xavier Rush, Marty Holah and Justin Marshall, and it’s easy to see why my generation was able to flourish. As a Welsh rugby fan, I do fear that the pyramid is beginning to crumble.


As short-lived as it was, I look back really fondly on that apprenticeship at Swansea, watching the sun sinking into the ocean as we were put through our paces on that famous old ground. It was also during this time that my deep bond with Leigh was cemented. It was a seminal friendship, and the connection between us remains strong. We’ve done all right for two teenagers doing endless ‘hang clean’ reps in Swansea College gym at seven in the morning. Watch us run out for Wales together, and you’ll note that we always stand next to each other during the anthem, a silent nod to our shared journey. We were lucky to find one another because we were two peas from the same pod, sharing an obsessive gene. We made the same sacrifices – from turning down nights out, to maintaining a strict, healthy diet. For several years, we insisted on only eating organic food, giving up Red Bull which apparently prevented us from gaining weight because of its high caffeine content, and egg yolks because we were told they contained too much cholesterol. Leigh was my wingman in all of this. We did it together. Neither of us was willing to slacken off or look for a shortcut. If one was feeling less motivated, we didn’t dare admit it.


It was around this time we started goal-kicking, recognizing that endless practice and repetition was what separated a decent kicker from an excellent one. We’d spend countless hours at Penclawdd RFC, where on the one side you’d usually be kicking into a hurricane, and on the other towards a house bordered by a dense thicket hedge. Most of the rugby injuries I suffered in those early years weren’t broken bones, but gashes and scrapes from clambering into that infernal hedge to retrieve my balls. There must be dozens of them still there.


Slowly but surely, Leigh and I were edging towards professional careers together when, in the blink of an eye, the rug was pulled out from under Pence. At the age of eighteen, he was released by the Ospreys for being too small. While rugby likes to claim it’s a game for all shapes and sizes, there’s no denying the inexorable trend towards bigger, bulkier players as the professional era motors forwards. As much as Leigh could train, eat right, and pile on the muscle mass, he would never be ‘big’ in the modern sense. In an era in which most three-quarters are more than six feet tall and fifteen stone, Leigh was an anomaly. Naturally, he was devastated.


Given what’s happened in his career since, it’s easy to pour scorn on the Ospreys for making such a seemingly bone-headed decision – like Decca rejecting the Beatles – but Leigh’s is probably a one-in-a-million case. There was no malice or spite, it was just a professional assessment that he probably wasn’t going to make the grade. But it hammered home to both of us how precarious things were. Far from being anointed as the next generation of stars, our progress would be subject to the whims and preferences of a small group of coaches. What made it all the more galling was the fact the guys they brought in to replace him weren’t anywhere near as good. They felt like imposters, and I kept my distance, thinking it would be disloyal to get too close to them.


Thankfully, Leigh was soon offered a lifeline from Cardiff RFC, the semi-professional side playing in the Welsh Premiership, and we’d later come up against each other when I was wearing Swansea colours. Initially though, his heart wasn’t in it. He’d been hit hard by the rejection and was on the verge of jacking it all in and studying dentistry. Can you imagine that? A world in which Leigh Halfpenny was fitting dentures and filling cavities rather than making heroic last-ditch tackles, scoring epic tries, and scorching his way to a Lions Player of the Series award.


My obsession with rugby meant I was largely oblivious to the fairer sex during my teenage years, until that is, at the age of seventeen, I had my head turned by a chic, flame-haired girl from the year above. On the way to the school bus one afternoon, Alex Cummings fell in step with me and asked about my plans for the weekend. I remember thinking how cute she looked in her skinny jeans and Vans trainers and was flattered that an older girl was paying me attention. We swapped numbers and began messaging. It took me weeks to pluck up the courage to invite her on a date to the cinema. I’d like to say I chose some sophisticated, thought-provoking film that would burnish my intellectual credentials, but I picked – wait for it – Deuce Bigalow: Male Gigolo, a dreadful comedy about a male prostitute.


Using the time-honoured ‘back seats offer the best view’ line, we shared our first kiss in the shadows of the Swansea Odeon. Our next date was at my house and involved a bit more effort on my part. I drove to the video rental shop in Llanrhidian – essentially a small grocery shop attached to the petrol station, with some dusty VHS tapes on a shelf – and rented The Notebook. I also stocked up on Coke and Maltesers and, considering it the height of sophistication, a box of Ferrero Rocher.


We cwtched up in my sister’s bedroom where there was a state-of-the-art TV with video player, and watched this weepy romantic drama while Alex gobbled every last morsel of chocolate. I ate nothing, committed as I was to my rugby diet and fortunately, rather than thinking I was a weirdo, she actually considered it sweet that I’d bought all this stuff just for her.


Thankfully, my taste in movies didn’t count against me. Alex would eventually, after a prolonged courtship, become my wife.
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STEPPING UP


My career could have suffered a significant blow had I not escaped unscathed from a nasty car crash when I was seventeen. My relationship with Alex had entered a volatile on/off phase, and one night after a heated argument, I’d stormed off in a huff to drive home. It was bitterly cold, and the roads were icy. Taking a bend near Llanmorlais at speed, I felt the car slide beneath me, and I completely lost control, spinning off the road. I managed to crawl out, but both the car, and the railings that had prevented me tumbling down a ravine, were completely mangled.


My precious Seat Leon was a write-off, and I was trembling with a combination of shock and cold. I was only a mile from my mate Ben Whitehouse’s place, so I called him up. Thankfully, he was there in a flash with his police officer dad, Nigel, switching seamlessly into professional mode and radioing in the incident.


I was really shaken up and didn’t want to go to school the next day. The story had spread quickly, and through a combination of Chinese whispers and the Gower grapevine, I was apparently either dead or seriously injured in hospital. My presence at school was therefore greeted with amazement and a barrage of questions. Bizarrely, I felt ashamed about the crash, worried that people would think I was a bad driver, so I made up a story about a cat leaping into the road. I persisted with it at home, even though Mum knew it was a tall tale to distract her from the fact I’d been going way too fast.


If there was ever an illustration of my adult and childhood worlds colliding, it was this. At the same time I was telling lies about how I crashed my car, I was on the cusp of my professional debut.


During international campaigns, when our star players were away, some of the academy boys would get called into the senior squad to make up the numbers. The first time it happened, I found myself getting changed alongside the likes of Jason Spice, Shaun Connor, Justin Marshall, and Stefan Terblanche – serious players. I remember watching in awe as Terblanche removed his shirt to reveal the shredded physique of a bodybuilder. He was in the twilight of his career – well into his thirties – but without an ounce of fat between those rippling abs.


No matter how inexperienced you are, there’s an expectation for fly halves to call the shots. It’s like being a quarterback in the NFL. But there’s no way a baby-faced teenager can stroll into a senior training session and start ordering grizzled veterans around. I wanted to sound and look authoritative without overstepping the mark. I was desperately worried about screwing up, or making a wrong call.


Ryan Jones – the Wales captain and another Llangennith resident – was good to me in those early years, putting his arm around me as a senior pro. Before I got my replacement car, the club loaned me a Ford Focus plastered with Ospreys branding. For several months I became Ryan’s chauffeur, driving us both to work and back because he was too tight to pay for petrol. At six foot five and more than eighteen stone, he preferred to fold his considerable frame into my tiny Ford Focus than waste unnecessary mileage on his brand-new Mercedes.
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